LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 002003 NICOLE M. YOUNG, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 12659 610 South Ninth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0536; FAX (702) 386-6812 Attorneys for Appellant

Electronically Filed Apr 07 2017 03:39 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DENNIS KOGOD,		Case No.	
Appellant,			71994
vs.			
GABRIELLE CIOFFI-KOGOD,			
Respondent.	/		
Appeal from the Eighth	Judicial District	Court- Famil	y Division

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis of Jurisdiction

There are two appeals consolidated. Case 71147 is an appeal from a trial and original decree of divorce, which is appealed pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). (Appellant's Appendix (hereinafter "AA") 44:8474-8587 & 44:8588-8589.) Case 71994 is an appeal from an order granting post-judgment expert witness fees and is appealed pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and/or NRAP 3A(b)(8). (AA 47:9276-9279 & 47:9280-9287.)

B. Timeliness of Appeal

The appeal in case 71147 was filed August 23, 2016, appealing an order entered on August 22, 2016. (AA 44:8474-8589.) The appeal in case 71994 was appealed December 13, 2016, from an order entered on December 5, 2016. (AA 47:9276-9287.)

C. Appeal from Final Order or Judgment

Case 71147 is an appeal from a final order containing Findings of Fact,

Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce. (AA 44:8474-8589.) Case 71994 is an

appeal from a post-judgment order awarding expert witness fees in the amount of

\$75,650.00. (AA 47:9276-9287.)

///

V. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(13), this matter should remain with the Supreme Court as it raises two principle issues of first impression under the statutory and common law of the State of Nevada:

- 1) May a district court award more than \$1.6 million in lump sum alimony when the district court concedes Respondent Gabrielle Cioffi-Kogod (hereinafter "Gabrielle") has no financial need? The prior 130-year history of court decisions in Nevada relating to alimony identify "need" as the most significant consideration in any alimony award.
- 2) May the district court award an unequal division of \$2,043,931.50 in Gabrielle's favor when the marital estate grew tenfold during the period of alleged waste and there was no diminution of the value of the estate? Prior Nevada law identified diminution of value of the estate as the controlling legal basis for making an unequal distribution of community property.

/// /// /// ///

VI. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the district court err in awarding lump sum spousal support to

 Gabrielle when she had no financial need for alimony? (AA 44:85568569.)
- 2. Did the district court err in awarding an unequal division of community property in Gabrielle's favor based on Dennis' marital misconduct when there was no diminution in the value of the estate and the estate actually grew tenfold during the period of the alleged waste? (AA 44:8513-8554.)
- 3. Did the district court err in awarding expert fees to Gabrielle in the amount of \$75,650 without specific findings required by *Frazier v. Drake*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 357 P.3d 365 (Nev. App. 2015) and *Khoury v. Seastrad*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 377 P.3d 81 (2016), and when the court specifically found there was no prevailing party? (AA 47:9276-9279.)
- 4. Did the district court err in awarding sanctions to Gabrielle based on alleged violations of the Joint Preliminary Injunction when the order in question was not signed by a judge, the order was vague, and Dennis was never served with the JPI? (AA 44:8554-8556.)

VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties permanently separated in July 2010. (AA 44:8528.) The parties participated in marriage counseling until March 2012. (AA 6:1121.) Gabrielle waited until December 13, 2013, to file her Complaint for Divorce that initiated this action. (AA 1:1-6.) After Gabrielle filed her complaint, the parties attempted to settle this case. (AA 1:7-13.) As a result, Dennis did not file his Answer to Complaint for Divorce and Counterclaim until November 24, 2014. (AA 1:19-24.) The Reply to Counterclaim for Divorce was filed on December 5, 2014. (AA 1:25-27.)

The trial began on February 23, 2016, and concluded on February 26, 2016. (AA 5:861 – 10:1875.) The district court orally divorced the parties and terminated the accrual of community property on February 26, 2016. (AA 44:8508.) On May 4, 2016, an evidentiary hearing took place regarding the value of real property. (AA 44:8476.)

The district court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce (hereinafter "Decree of Divorce") on August 22, 2016. (AA 44:8474-8587). In that decree, the district court unequally divided the community property with Gabrielle receiving \$2,043,931.50 from Dennis' share of the community property. (AA 44:8576.) The district court also awarded Gabrielle

\$1,944,000 in alimony, which was discounted to a lump sum present value of \$1,630,292 to be paid from Dennis' share of the community property. (AA 44:8569.) Gabrielle was also awarded \$19,500 in sanctions for alleged violations by Dennis of the JPI. (AA 44:8576.)

A post-judgment hearing was held on October 18, 2016, regarding attorney's fees and costs. (AA 47:9187-9271.) Gabrielle was awarded expert witness fees of \$75,650 at that hearing. (AA 47:9276-9279.)

VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married on July 20, 1991, in New York City. (AA 1:1-6.) Despite the fact that both parties worked in the healthcare industry, it became clear during the marriage that these parties would live separate lives. Early in the marriage, Dennis began going on medical missions. (AA 8:1493.He had no formal medical training. Gabrielle, who was a registered nurse with a Masters degree in Public Health, never went with Dennis. (AA 8:1493.) This was an early, telling sign the parties had separate interests and would ultimately live separate lives. Dennis traveled extensively for his career, while Gabrielle pursued her career. In 2003, the parties moved to Lake Las Vegas. (AA 6:1044.) At that time, Dennis' office was based in Southern California where he lived during the week, and returned to Las Vegas on weekends. (8:1529.)

The parties grew apart after moving to Las Vegas. Dennis spent less time at the marital residence. Dennis started dating someone else beginning in 2004. (AA 44:8496.) By 2005, the parties were no longer sexually intimate. (AA 7:1341.) Dennis stopped spending Christmas with Gabrielle after 2008. (AA 6:1164.) The parties stopped exchanging gifts and celebrating birthdays together. (AA 6:1163-65.) There was no physical or emotional intimacy. In July 2010, after Gabrielle found out Dennis had filed for divorce, the parties separated. (AA 44:8484.) Dennis never set foot in the marital residence after their separation. (AA 6:1163.) The parties never lived together, had sex, or exchanged gifts after July 2010. (AA 6:1163.) The district court found the marriage suffered an irretrievable or irrevocable breakdown in 2004, six (6) years prior to separation. (AA 44:8496.) However, there was no dispute the parties lived separately and had separate lives after July 2010, and the marriage was irretrievably broken at that time.

Gabrielle is a highly intelligent woman with an advanced degree in public health. (AA 7:1304-05.) She worked as a nurse investigator bringing charges before the North Carolina Nursing Board. (AA 7:1314-15.) She currently works as a nurse consultant. (AA 6:1173-74 & 7:1345.) She reviews malpractice claims and is familiar with medical-legal matters. (AA 8:1456.) She interacts with attorneys on a regular basis and is familiar with legal concepts, such as proximate cause and

standard of care. (AA 1456.)

Despite having only a part-time job from 2003 through the date of the trial, Gabrielle never travelled to California to visit Dennis. (AA 7:1234-35.) What wife would not visit her husband while he was working full-time in California or try to go with him on one of his many business trips? She also made no attempts to go on any weekend trips or other vacations with him. (AA 6:1165.) This is strong evidence of a physical and emotional separation of the parties.

It is not believable that a couple who stopped spending Valentine's Day, Christmas, New Year's Eve, or birthdays together were still in a relationship.

Gabrielle worked 24 hours per week while living at Lake Las Vegas for the past thirteen (13) years with no minor children or aged parents to care for and no coherent explanation of how she spent her time.

By July 2010, and continuing over the next six (6) years, three (3) of which were before Gabrielle filed for divorce and the other three (3) were after Gabrielle filed, the parties lived totally separate lives.

During this period, from 2010 through the date of divorce, Gabrielle had no limits on her spending. (AA 7:1259-60.) Based on her testimony and her Financial Disclosure Form (hereinafter "FDF"), she spent at least \$180,000.00 per year over a six (6) year period. (AA 7:1258.) Gabrielle's bills were paid out of the joint Bank

of America account ending 6446. (AA 7:1259-60.) She testified that while she liked to save, she spent \$2,000.00 per month on food and spent \$1,500.00 - \$2,000.00 per month on clothes, all without any questions from Dennis. (AA 8:1477.) She had a golf membership and a country club membership. Dennis never questioned any of her spending. (AA 6:1172.) Gabrielle was able to do whatever she wanted, whenever she wanted, with money not being an issue. (AA 8:1453.) She admitted she was never on a budget or questioned about her spending. (AA 8:1453.)

While Dennis was out of the marital home, Gabrielle had over \$1 million in a bank account and lived in a home the parties purchased for \$2.2 million. (AA 6:1173.) While Gabrielle claims she did not want to give up on the marriage because of her "vows," she consulted with legal counsel after July 2010 to find out her rights. (AA 8:1508-09.) She obviously was aware that community property continued until the divorce of the parties. She made the business decision to stay married to Dennis because Dennis had just entered the most financially lucrative part of his career. He had just become the Chief Operating Officer (hereinafter "COO") for DaVita, a Fortune 300 company, in 2009. (AA 6:1149.) As a COO, he was a Section 16 officer, meaning he is a person who directly or indirectly is a beneficial owner of more than 10% of the company. *See* 17 CFR 240.16a-1.

During the next six (6) years of the parties' separation, Dennis was the COO for DaVita. (AA 5:987 & 6:1182.) In 2014, he became the President of Health Care Partners and the CEO of the International division. (AA 5:990.)

For most of their marriage, the parties had been middle to upper-middle class. With the DaVita acquisition of Gambro in 2005, and Dennis' subsequent promotion to COO, Dennis moved into that elite group of "C" suite corporate executives, that through stock options and bonuses, make millions of dollars per year. Because this elite group of executives earn so much money through options and other grants of stock, they must file public forms with the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding their income. The amount of money Dennis earned during that period was public record and has been since he was promoted into his current position in 2009. (AA 6:1167.) Through these public filings, Gabrielle had access to Dennis' financial situation and was even told by Dennis his earnings were public record. (AA 6:1167)

Normally a spouse would have some interest in their spouse's earnings, where he worked and lived. Gabrielle claims her only attempt to find out about Dennis' lifestyle was when she made a trip to California in 2011 looking for Dennis' parents. (AA 8:1496.) Gabrielle did not even call Dennis when she drove to California looking for Dennis' parents. (AA 7:1234-35.) During the seven (7)

years prior to that trip, Gabrielle did not make any trips to see where Dennis lived in California or even to visit him. (AA 7:1234-35.) While Dennis was earning tens of millions of dollars a year and the parties had no relationship physically or emotionally, Gabrielle had an obsession with where Dennis' parents lived and whether he was giving them money. She claims she did not have any interest in what Dennis was doing or spending. (AA 8:1500.) However, she did check the bank account statements after Dennis filed for divorce in 2010. (AA 8:1446.)

After 2010, Dennis and Gabrielle lived separate lives and had separate living arrangements, houses, cars, etc. Gabrielle did not see or talk to Dennis for extended periods of time. (AA 8:1520.) While there was testimony they went to counseling, those sessions were minimal. (AA 8:1535.) Even the text messages and/or emails discussed at trial highlight that the parties had no relationship. (AA 14:2629 – 15:3061.) In those messages, Gabrielle constantly confronts Dennis for not making an effort in the relationship, but Gabrielle's actions show she was doing nothing regarding the assets in light of Dennis' conduct. (AA 14:2629 – 15:3061.) Despite her consultation with legal counsel after July 2010, she claims she did nothing to verify, investigate or protect her assets even though she had the ability and records to do so. (AA 8:1503-04.) Gabrielle was content to spend what she wanted and only minimally questioned Dennis' actions because he invested

and/or saved approximately 90% of what he earned during his high income years.

(AA 33:6200)

This is not a case of parties living together with the husband secreting money to diminish the marital estate at the time of divorce. By July 2010, Gabrielle knew Dennis was on his own, living out of state, and she knew Dennis was living his own life and spending money. (AA 8:1530-31.)

There is no dispute that at the time of the separation in 2010, the parties' net worth was approximately \$4 million. (AA 6:1144 & 1149.) If the parties followed through with the divorce at that time, the amount divided would have been a fraction of the \$47 million the district court unequally divided in 2016. In the six (6) years of separation, the marital estate exponentially increased. Gabrielle sat out the separation period and wound up with an estate that in 2016 was over \$47 million. Dennis did not contest that one-half of the community property should be awarded to Gabrielle at the 2016 trial. Dennis objected to the unequal community property division proposed by Gabrielle for Dennis' actions during the six (6) year separation period. (AA 43:8415-8473.)

For Gabrielle to contend she gets the benefit of the staggering growth of the community property plus waste and alimony, defies Nevada law. She knew or should have known Dennis was living his own life, including spending a

reasonable amount of money based on his earnings.¹ (AA 8:1530-31.) Gabrielle never made an issue with how Dennis spent money from 2004 through 2009. In 2010, when Gabrielle discovered Dennis wanted a divorce, she reviewed their bank accounts, including cancelled checks. (AA 8:1446.) Gabrielle then continued to allow Dennis' spending habits to continue through February 2016 when the district court ended community property.

In total, the district court divided \$47,921,117 of community property. (AA 44:8580.) During the pendency of the divorce, the parties each received \$3,615,061, which each party used to purchase real property. (AA 1:201-06.) After the trial, each party received \$3 million each. (AA 42:8068-71.) Accordingly, only \$34,690,995 needed to be divided in the Decree of Divorce. (AA 44:8581.) The district court awarded Gabrielle \$19,183,067, which is 55% of the remaining community property. (AA 44:8581.) Dennis was only awarded \$15,507,928, which is 45%. (AA 44:8581.) Then, on top of its unequal division, the district court awarded Gabrielle \$1,630,292 in lump sum alimony, payable from Dennis' share of community property. (AA 44:8586) That award leaves Gabrielle with \$20,813,359, or 60% of community property and Dennis with \$13,907,928, which

¹Richard Teichner, Dennis' expert CPA, testified Dennis spent 9% of his net disposal income and saved or invested 91% during the period Gabrielle claimed Dennis spent \$1,681,178.14 on his girlfriend and children. Gabrielle spent \$180,000.00 per year or \$1,080,000.00 during the six (6) year period, without any questions from Dennis. (AA 33:6200.)

is 40% of the community property. (AA 44:8581.)

This result violates Nevada law. The result is erroneous considering Dennis earned virtually all of the parties' money, most of it during the six (6) year separation period when the parties lived separate lives.

IX. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. Alimony

The district court violated 130 years of Nevada precedent when it awarded approximately \$1.6 million in alimony to a spouse receiving over \$25 million of community property assets. (AA 44:8576 & 8581.) No Nevada statute or case allows alimony without a spouse having a financial need.

In addition, the district court violated well-settled Nevada precedent when it awarded lump sum alimony because Dennis is only 58 years old and is in good health. No Nevada case has awarded lump sum alimony when a party was not aged or in poor health. In the two cases approving lump sum alimony, the payor spouses died while the appeals were pending.

B. Community Waste

The district court erred and violated Nevada law when it found Dennis wasted \$4,087,863 based on a retrospective audit of expenditures by the parties down to the \$1.00 parking fees. The court based its unequal division of property on

Dennis' marital fault during the marriage. Just because a husband cheats on his wife does not mean a "compelling reason" exists to justify an unequal division of community property. There was no diminution of the marital estate. In fact, the marital estate grew ten-fold during the period of alleged community waste.

C. Expert Witness Fees

The district court violated three (3) statutes when it awarded Gabrielle expert fees. First, the district court erred in awarding expert fees when there was no prevailing party. NRS 18.020. Second, the district court erred when it awarded expert witness fees even though Gabrielle failed to file a timely verified Memorandum of Fees in Costs. NRS 18.110(1). Finally, the district court erred when it awarded \$75,650.00 in expert witness fees without the analysis required by *Frazier v. Drake*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 64, 357 P.3d 365 (Nev. App. 2015) and *Khoury v. Seastrad*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 377 P.3d 81 (2016). NRS 18.005.

D. Violation of the Joint Preliminary Injunction (JPI)

The district court erred when it sanctioned Dennis the sum of \$19,500.00 for violating the JPI when the court already gave Gabrielle credit for alleged waste in its unequal division of community property. This award is in error because the district court denied Gabrielle's request to hold Dennis in contempt. Even though that motion was denied, the court still sanctioned Dennis based on EDCR 7.60.

The court has no basis to sanction Dennis under EDCR 7.60 because there was no clear and unambiguous court order to base an award of sanctions. Dennis' spending during the divorce was in the normal course of his living and commensurate with his wealth. The court's sanction effectively pays Gabrielle twice for the same transaction.

X. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The district court committed an error of law when it awarded Gabrielle over \$1.6 million in lump sum spousal support.

When a court makes an award of spousal support, the award must be "just and equitable, having regard to the conditions in which the parties will be left by the divorce." *Sprenger v. Sprenger*, 110 Nev. 855, 859, 878, P.2d 284 (1994). The district court ignored Nevada statutory and case law when it awarded \$1.6 million lump sum alimony to Gabrielle. While the court's error in awarding lump sum alimony is described in section A(3) below, the district court erred in awarding any alimony in this case.

NRS 125.150(5) sets forth the factors that are considered when awarding alimony. It is undisputed that alimony is never mandated merely because one party is a high-income earner or to equalize post-divorce income. *Shydler v. Shydler*, 114 Nev. 192, 199, 954 P.2d 37, 41 (1998).

While alimony is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, there are

limits to the trial court's discretion in awarding or refusing to award alimony. *Johnson v. Steel Inc.*, 94 Nev. 483, 489, 581 P.2d 860, 862 (1978). If the district court fails to correctly apply the law to the facts of the case, then alimony must be reviewed *de novo. Jones v. Nevaa, State Bd. Of Med. Exam'rs*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 4, 342 P.3d 50, 52 (2015). In this case, the district court awarded Gabrielle alimony even though she had no "need." The court based this award on the economic loss theory of alimony, which has not been adopted in Nevada. Then, the court ordered Dennis pay Gabrielle alimony in a lump sum, even though he is in good health and not aged. Each of these three (3) issues are discussed below.

1. The factors set forth in NRS 125.150(5) do not support an award of alimony in this case.

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