#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DENNIS KOGOD,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

GABRIELLE CIOFFI-KOGOD.

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

S.C. Docket No. 71147 71994 Electronically Filed (Dist. Ct. No. D-13-A89423-2017 12:37 p.m.

> Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

# Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court

#### RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT'S

#### AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF AND AMENDED OPENING BRIEF ON

#### **CROSS-APPEAL**

RADFORD J. SMITH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 2791 GARIMA VARSHNEY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 011878 Radford J. Smith, Chartered 2470 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 206 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702)990-6448 Attorneys for Respondent/Cross Appellant

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

Other states have not found the use of the broad terms "compelling" or "compelling reason" to render a statute ambiguous, and have defined those terms by their plain meaning. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Dep't of Human Services. v. M.A. (In re C.A.)*, 205 P.3d 36, 41 n.9 (Or. App. 2009)('[c]ompelling reason' means a convincing and persuasive reason."); *Does v. Mills*, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6603, at \*33, 2005 WL 900620 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 18, 2005)("To the extent that the terms 'day' and 'compelling reason' are not defined by the regulations themselves, they are to be read according to their plain-language meanings".)

# c. The Legislative History of the 1993 Amendment to NRS 125.150(1) Does not Reflect Intent to Apply a Higher Standard of Proof to a Finding of "Compelling Reason."

Dennis selectively cites statements made by assemblymen during presentation of the bill containing the 1993 amendment to NRS 125.150(1) in the Nevada House Judiciary Committee as evidence that the "compelling reason" standard should be limited to circumstances of "adverse economic impact." AOB p.32. Though NRS

125.150(1) is not ambiguous, a review of its legislative history would not compel Dennis's proposed change in the standard of review associated with the statute.

When a statute is ambiguous, the court must determine the Legislature's intent by evaluating the legislative history and construing the statute in a manner that conforms to reason and public policy. *Attorney General v. Nevada Tax Comm'n*, 124 Nev. 232, 240, 181 P.3d 675, 681 (2008). The court "avoids statutory interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous." *Karcher Firestopping v. Meadow Valley Contr.*, 125 Nev. 111, 113, 204 P.3d 1262, 1263 (2009). Whenever possible, the Nevada Supreme Court will interpret "statutes within a statutory scheme harmoniously with one another to avoid an unreasonable or absurd result." *Allstate Insurance Co. v. Fackett*, 125 Nev. 132, 138, 206 P.3d 572, 576 (2009). *Great Basin Water Network v. Taylor*, 234 P.3d 912, 918 (Nev. 2010)

Dennis's account of the legislative history of NRS 125.150(1) is based upon an inaccurate reading of the purpose and language of the bill. Thomas Standish, Esq. provided the explanation of the bill to the Senate Judiciary committee. The minutes of the hearing before that committee on April 30, 1993 outlined Mr. Standish's presentation of the bill – AB 347 – and his explanation of its intent.

[Mr. Standish] advised the decision in *McNabney* [v. Mcnabney, 105 Nev. 652, 782 P.2d 1291 (1989)] has been somewhat distorted and taken advantage of by counsel in divorce litigation, to the point where the decision is used in every case. He stated the argument usually takes the form that there is no need to make an equal division of community property because the *McNabney* case allows the distribution to be made

equitably in any way the court sees fit, as long as there are reasons to do so. He advised this creates much confusion with the basic tenets of community property law.

He stated these tenets call for community property to be divided equally between the parties as a starting point. The law and the statutes then provide for the judge's discretion to make equitable considerations and to not make an exact 50/50 division. He stated A.B. 347 simply makes the statute clearer for the application of community property law and the division of property. He stated his belief that this will cause the arguments between counsel to cease and will clarify the process of dividing community property.

Nev. Senate Jud. Comm. *McNabney Bill: Hearings on A.B. 347*, April 30, 1997. Nothing in Mr. Standish's presentation to the Committee suggests that the authors of the bill envisioned a higher standard of proof for "compelling reason." Instead, the standard was designed to "provide for the judge's discretion to make equitable consideration and not make an exact 50/50 division." Mr. Standish's statement to the Assembly Judiciary committee on April 7, 1993 contained the same notions.

Dennis's quote of Assemblyman Porter's comments (AOB p.30) is taken out of context. The April 7, 2003 minutes reflect that Assemblyman Porter wanted to eliminate any discretion to divide property any way but evenly. Assemblyman Porter's proposals to eliminate the language "compelling reason," or include in the statute a laundry list of items that would outline the meaning of "compelling reason" were not added to the bill because other assemblymen, and Mr. Standish, disagreed with Mr. Porter's proposals. Nev. Assembly Jud. Comm., *McNabney Bill: Hearings on A.B. 347*, April 7, 2003.

The legislative history of A.B. 374, and its "compelling reason" language is consistent with the Nevada Supreme Court's view in *Lofgren* that compelling reasons are those that in equity justify something other than an equal division.

### d. Substantial Earnings do not Justify Financial Misconduct, the Improper Gifting of Community Property, or Waste.

Dennis argues that party's acts of community waste should be balanced against his contributions to the estate (earnings) and the size of the estate. AOB 33. In support of that proposition, Dennis cites *Kitteredge v. Kitteredge*, 803 N.E.2d 306, 315 (Mass. 2004). *Kitteredge* involved a claim of waste in an equitable property state that was based upon the husband's gambling. *Id.* Dennis's reliance on *Kitteredge* is misplaced.

Gambling is a not necessarily waste, and is often an activity that is tacitly approved by a spouse. Gambling can require consideration of degree, particularly in Nevada, where gambling is a legal recreational activity. These are not issues in this case; none of the financial misconduct in the present case involves gambling.

Here, the district court's unequal division was based primarily upon Dennis's unauthorized gifts of community property (including community income), in violation of NRS 123.230(2). The prohibition is absolute – a spouse many not gift community property without the express or implied consent of the other spouse.

The law in equitable property states, like Massachusetts, regarding the division of property is not applicable to community property states. As indicated

above, in Nevada, a party has a right to an equal ownership of community property as a right. Equitable property states permit courts to divide equitable property as they see fit, and grant more to one spouse based upon a laundry list of factors that usually includes a parties' financial contribution to the marriage. In Nevada, a community property state, a party is not rewarded with an additional portion of the community property because he or she earned it. In *Putterman*, the court held that historical "disproportion in contribution or consumption of community property" should not be a consideration in distribution, but that "hiding or wasting of community assets or misappropriating community assets for personal gain may indeed provide compelling reasons for unequal disposition." 113 Nev. 606, at 608, 939 P.2d at 1048.

Dennis's citation to *Ansutz v. Ansutz*, 331 N.W.2d 844, 846 (Wis. 1983) and *In Re Marriage of Williams*, 927 P.2d 697, 683 (Wash. 1996) are equally flawed. The Wisconsin court in *Ansutz* based its decision on a statute in Wisconsin that required trial courts to take in consideration the contribution to the property when weighing division of property under its scheme of equitable distribution. *Ansutz v. Ansutz*, 331 N.W.2d 844, 846 (Wis. 1983). The court in *In Re Marriage of Williams* was addressing Washington's equitable division law that requires a consideration of the contribution of assets when dividing property under Washington's scheme. *In Re Marriage of Williams*, 927 P.2d 697, 683 (Wash. 1996).

Nevada, on the other hand, does not have an equitable property scheme. The court need not weigh factors to determine whether a party has a right to an equal share of the community property. Dennis's proposition that the court should ignore his gifting of community funds as a basis for an unequal division because of his wealth is a request that he receive a larger portion of the community property. Under Nevada law, Gabrielle is entitled to an equal division of community property, NRS 125.150(1). Dennis received an equal division of the property that was the subject of Gabrielle's waste claim – he just chose to spend his portion on his girlfriend and family. The court's remedy of requiring Dennis to account for one half of the funds he gifted, transferred or used on his mistresses and their children was simply a return of Gabrielle's equal portion of the community property. Dennis had and enjoyed full use of his portion of that property.

In its Decree, the district court recognized that most courts in equal division states and equitable division states approach the remedy for waste in the same way: "the court will deem the wrongfully dissipated assets to have been received by the offending party prior to the distribution." *Brosick v. Brosick*, 974 S.W.2d 498, 501 (1998). Such an order places the non-wasting spouse in the same position she would have been in if the other spouse would not have improperly gifted or wasted the assets.

What Dennis argues is that he should be entitled to use the community property on whatever he sees fit because he earned it, even if it includes granting Gabrielle's equal share to a girlfriend. There is no reasonable justification for his argument. Dennis's contention that Gabrielle suffered no "adverse economic impact" from his actions (AOB 35) ignores the cost of his funneling property to mistresses and their children.

e. The District Court Properly Held that Upon the Presentation of a *Prima Facie* Case of Financial Misconduct, Dennis had a Duty to Account, by Clear and Convincing Evidence, for Community Funds and Property Gifted to Third Parties without Gabrielle's Knowledge or Consent

Dennis admitted at the commencement of the case that he had gifted monies to third parties. AA.44.08497-08498. In numerous previous hearings, the district court expressed its view that it would expect to see an accounting of Dennis's relationships with Nadya, his support of his relatives, his relationship Jennifer Steiner, and his concealed spending of community funds. AA.44.08497-8503. Both Dennis's initial counsel, Mr. Jimmerson, and Gabrielle's current counsel, Mr. Smith, acknowledged that the case required an accounting of Dennis's spending, gifts and transfers of community property. AA.44.08947-8499.

At a hearing held February 3, 2015, Dennis's counsel, with Dennis by his side, pledged that Dennis was going to take the issue of community waste "away from Gabrielle" by "providing an accounting." AA.44.08527. Dennis later hired new counsel, and did not provide an accounting. It its Decree, the district court found:

Just as he had given Gabrielle false hope that, through marital counseling, their marriage could be saved, he gave this Court false hope that he would provide "an estimate and an offer that will be more than the dollars spent, so that one-half of which will be awarded to Mrs. Kogod to at least remove the financial sting or insult of Dennis' having this relationship."

#### AA.44.08527.

Gabrielle hired forensic accounting experts Joseph Leauanae and Jennifer Allen of Anthem Forensics (collectively "Anthem"). Anthem Forensics examined more than 27,200 transactions. AA.44.8532. Anthem prepared three extensive written reports outlining the findings of "potential community waste" in excruciating detail, and both Ms. Allen and Mr. Leauanae testified at Trial. AA.8.1570-1593; AA.9.1597-1766; RA.1.00151-RA.1.00171; AA.44.8530-8554; AA.16.2133-3232; AA1.17.3233-3368; AA.18.3551-3578. Gabrielle also presented the deposition testimony of Nadya, Dennis's parents, his brother and sister in law, and Ms. Steiner into the record. AA.27.5171-AA.30.5832. Upon review, the court held that Gabrielle had made a *prima facie* case of community waste. AA.44.8524.

Though Dennis hired an expert, the district court found that Dennis did not provide any accounting. AA.44.8502; AA.10.1821. Instead, Dennis waited until the Anthem reports, then claimed that a mass of the items identified as potential waste in the reports were for Dennis's benefit (not Nadya's or the children's benefit) and thus not waste. AA.10.1835. Dennis failed, however, to provide any

documentation supporting those denials, and his expert admitted that his report accepted those denials as true without independent investigation. AA.10.1807-1808.

The district court held that once Gabrielle demonstrated a *prima facie* case for breach of fiduciary duty in the form of community waste, Dennis had the burden to account for the use of the funds. AA.44.8524. It found that Dennis failed to provide any independent accounting of his spending. AA.10.1807-1810. The district found that Dennis did not meet his burden of proof to account for the expenditures that logically were for the benefit of his mistresses and children.

Dennis, based upon citation to cases from Maryland, Virginia and Kentucky, argues on appeal that it is the party alleging community waste that has the burden to account. Dennis's position is not supported by Nevada law.

The marriage partnership places the parties in the position of fiduciaries. "A fiduciary relationship [. . .] arises from the existence of the marriage itself, thus precipitating a duty to disclose pertinent assets and factors relating to those assets." Williams v. Waldman, 108 Nev. 466, 472, 836 P.2d 614, 618 (1992). In addressing the obligations of accounting of a fiduciary in a partnership, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that it is the burden of the fiduciary in control of partnership property to account for that property, and the fiduciary bears the risk of uncertainty arising from the failure to account. "The most elementary conceptions of justice and public policy require that the wrongdoer shall bear the risk of the uncertainty which his own

wrong has created." *Foley v. Morse & Mowbray*, 109 Nev. 116, 121, 848 P.2d 519, 520 (1993) *quoting*, *Bigelow v. RKO Radio Pictures*, 327 U.S. 251, 265, 90 L. Ed. 652, 66 S. Ct. 574 (1946).

Dennis further argues that the district court erred when it held that Dennis, as a fiduciary accused of breach, had the duty to account for his acts of improper gifting and dissipation of community assets by clear and convincing evidence. The district court's finding, however, is supported by Nevada law.

The imposition of a "clear and convincing" standard regarding the accounting of waste is analogous to the duty Nevada law places upon a fiduciary that benefits from a questioned transaction with his fiduciary. In *Blanchard v. Montgomery (In Re Estate of Blanchard)*, 2016 Nev.App. 258, 2016 WL 3584702 (2016), the court first acknowledged, citing *Waldman, supra*, that parties to a marriage were fiduciaries. Where one of the fiduciaries in a marriage benefits from a questioned transaction, a presumption of undue influence arises that can only be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence that the transaction was voluntarily entered. *Id.* The language of *Blanchard* suggests that the burden of clear and convincing evidence is based upon a spouse's fiduciary obligation to "disclose pertinent assets and factors relating to those assets." *Id.* 

That reading of the *Blanchard* standard is consistent with the court's findings in this case. The court found that once Gabrielle established a *prima facie* case that

Dennis engaged in non-community spending and that the community funds were otherwise unaccounted, it was Dennis' burden to provide the court with proof by way of accounting that his expenditures did not constitute waste and that because of his fiduciary relationship towards Gabrielle, such proof must be clear and convincing. AA.44.08526-08527. The court indicated that it was not about challenging lifestyle expenditures – instead it was about giving credit to Dennis for lifestyle expenditures that that he identified. AA.44.08527. With that determination, the court's analysis was twofold, 1) whether expenditures identified constituted waste; and, 2) whether Dennis has provided sufficient evidence to explain "unaccounted for expenditures." AA.44.08527.

The issue of the district court's identification of a "clear and convincing standard" was rendered moot by its finding that "Dennis failed to meet his burden by clear and convincing evidence (or even a preponderance of the evidence)." AA.44.08536. Even if this court was to find the clear and convincing standard to be error, that finding did not affect the district court's determination of waste.

#### f. Substantial Evidence Supported the District Court's Finding of Community Waste

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